
 

MARINE COMMISSION MINUTES 
Tuesday, November 1, 2016 – 9:30 a.m. 

Vero Beach City Marina (Pavilion), 3611 Rio Vista Boulevard, Vero Beach, Florida 
 

PRESENT:  Chairman, Thomas Juliano; Members: Robert Snyder, Clinton Lanier; and 
Alternate Member, William Walker Also Present: Marina Director, Tim Grabenbauer and 
Senior Administrative Assistant, Rita Hawkins 
 
Excused absence: Brian Cunningham  
Unexcused absences: Daniel Thomas and Bill Johnson 

 
  1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Chairman called the meeting to order at 9:33 a.m. and the Senior Administrative Assistant 
performed the roll call.  
 
  2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A) July 11, 2016  
 
Mr. Lanier made a motion to approve the July 11, 2016 Marine Commission minutes.  Mr. 
Snyder seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
None 
 
4. OLD BUSINESS 

 
A)  Update on Indian River Rowing Club, Inc. 

 
Mr. Juliano stated that he talked with Mr. Chris Ryan, Indian River Rowing Club (IRRC) 
Director, and asked him to provide the Marine Commission with an update on their progress.  
The Commission members were given a handout that includes a brief summary of their progress 
and a rendering of what the boathouse and floating docks will look like (on file in the City 
Clerk’s office).  He said that Mr. Ryan shared with him that rowing generates the largest amount 
of scholarships for girls out of all of women’s sports.   
 
Mr. Lanier asked if the funds for building the boathouse are still coming exclusively from the 
IRRC and not the City. 
 
Mr. Juliano replied yes.  
 
Mr. Walker asked what is the term of their lease.  
  
Mr. Juliano asked Ms. Rita Hawkins, Senior Administrative Assistant, to email the lease 
agreement to the Marine Commission members.  
 

                          Marine Commission   11/1/16  
1 



 

Mr. Snyder stated that he rows with the Masters group, so he is in contact with the IRRC all the 
time and he knows they have cash flow.  He does not attend the IRRC Board meetings, but he 
will keep the Marine Commission informed on what he knows.  
 
Mr. Walker asked if they are actively fundraising.  
 
Mr. Snyder replied that they are.  
 
5. NEW BUSINESS 

  
None 
  
6. MARINA DIRECTOR’S MATTERS 

 
Items 6-B) and 6-C) were discussed before the tour of the facility. 
 

A) Tour of Marina Facility 
 
Mr. Tim Grabenbauer, Marina Director, and the Marine Commission members toured the Vero 
Beach Marina property at this time.   
 
Mr. Grabenbauer started the tour at the main building and pointed out the north restroom 
facilities that will be renovated.  He said the entire building will be painted next year.  The south 
restroom facilities were redone in 1999 and are in good shape.  They are currently repairing the 
wood siding on some of the electrical/meter sheds and on the north dock they had to replace one 
(1) of the finger piers.   
 
Mr. Juliano asked who does the dock repairs. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer explained that they use Wilco Construction, Dock Masters, and some others, 
but Wilco does the major work.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer continued the tour down the pier to the Marina office and showed them the 
location of the failing piling that is scheduled for repair.  He said he believes the Marina office 
has been at this location since the 1930’s and there has not been any major work done to the 
concrete dock since 1973.  He said the 2x4 wood beams under the cement tiles are from the old 
Barber Bridge, so it has some historical significance.  
 
Mr. Walker asked if the City owns the fuel system. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer and the Marine Commission members continued their tour to the dry storage 
barn.  He pointed out the flat roof on the storage building as the one that is being replaced.  He 
said the building is structurally sound even though there is rust.  He said that the cost for storing 
a boat in the barn is $325.00 per month plus tax.  The group walked out on the floating docks 
and Mr. Grabenbauer explained that the dock is held together with wales and rods.  The dock is 
over 20 years old and needs some repairs.  He showed them some damage that occurred from 
hurricane Matthew.   

                          Marine Commission   11/1/16  
2 



 

 
Mr. Grabenbauer showed the Commission the Go-Line bus shelter that was installed by the 
County about a year ago.  He reported that he upgraded the security system at the Marina and 
added some new cameras.  He said that the Marina also provides kayak storage space and a 
launching area for a cost of $16.35 per month.   
 

B) Report on Marina Budget Hearing 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer reported that the budget was approved and the City is transferring $107,000 
from the General Fund to capital maintenance for the Marina.  They will go to bid in February 
for the renovations of the north bathroom facilities, which will take place in mid April.  They 
will be replacing the flat roof on the dry stack office, which is the concrete building attached to 
the barn.  They already signed off on the work authorization and there will be a preconstruction 
meeting this week with the contractor to determine how much storage room will be required for 
their equipment and materials.   
 
Mr. Juliano asked if the roof is leaking. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer stated that they have been patching it since they purchased the property, so it 
has been leaking a long time. 
 
Mr. Walker asked how old is the roof on the main building.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied it was re-shingled about 12 years ago, so it still has some life left to it.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer stated that he met with Ms. Cindy Lawson, Finance Director, and Mr. Jim 
O’Connor, City Manager, about the Marina.  The Marina is paying for itself but there is no 
money left over for capital maintenance.  The General Fund paid off a few things this year which 
freed up some money.  Since the Marina is a City facility they decided to put some money back 
into it.   
 
Mr. Lanier asked if the Marina still generates a positive cash flow for the City.   
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.  The Marina still pays into the General Fund.  This year they are 
paying in a little over $90,000, but it is usually a little over $100,000.   
 
Mr. Juliano asked how was the actual cash flow compared to last year.   
 
Mr. Grabenbauer said that he has not seen the final figures yet.  They raised the rate for the 
mooring field last year and when he looked recently it was well over what it was the previous 
year.  
 
Mr. Walker asked if the mooring field filled up for the hurricane.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied not quite and this was the first time it was not full for a major storm. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer reported that the Underwater Engineering Services, Inc. (UESI) finished the 
structural analysis report on the main dock.  There are some issues that need to be addressed and 
there is money in the budget this year for the recommended repairs.  In the City’s submerged 

                          Marine Commission   11/1/16  
3 



 

land lease it states that if they do more than 40% renovations to the dock house they are 
supposed to revisit the lease, because they prefer to have the buildings off the water.  He believes 
it might not be a bad idea and in about five (5) years they might want to decide if they want to 
move the dock house on shore.  They can revisit this project after the other piece of property is 
paid for and frees up some funds.   
 
Mr. Juliano asked if there is space available for it.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.   
 
Mr. Juliano asked when will the dock repairs be done.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer explained that he will be meeting with the Engineer who did the study to 
schedule the work.  A piling near the office has failed, so that is an immediate repair.  The first 
part of the work will cost about $60,000 to $80,000 and the second part will be close to 
$200,000.  He explained that in the 2018/2019 and the 2019/2020 budget years the City’s plan is 
to have the General Fund pay the debt service for two (2) years on the Waddell property, so they 
can buy a new forklift and do some dock renovations.   
 
Mr. Lanier commented that Mr. Grabenbauer has done a wonderful job with the funds that are 
available and with the cut back on employees.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer stated that he did add one (1) new employee this year.  
 
Mr. Lanier asked how is the mooring ball renovation project going.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer reported that there are 15 buoys left to be done.  Some of the chains where they 
are shackled to the anchors are buried way down deep, so they left those ones until last.  The 
company doing the work has a special set up to be able to blow away all the sand and debris so 
he can get to that anchor.   
 
Mr. Juliano asked how many mooring buoys are there. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied that there are 57, but he wants to increase that number.  He is trying to 
work with the Florida Inland Navigation District (FIND), because he is also going to apply for 
FIND grant money for the docks.  He said he will email the structural analysis report to the City 
Clerk’s office so it can be forwarded to the Marine Commission members.   
 

C) Challenges and Concerns Related to Budget, Maintenance, Expenses, Risks 
and Liabilities 

 
This item was discussed with item 6-B).  
 

D) Waddell Insurance Building 
 
Mr. Walker asked if there is office space available in the Waddell Insurance building. 
 

                          Marine Commission   11/1/16  
4 



 

Mr. Grabenbauer replied that Mr. Waddell uses the entire building, so there is no space to rent.  
Mr. Waddell’s lease runs until 2029, which is past the time that the debt service will be paid off 
for that property.  The City raises his rent every year, but Mr. Waddell does not complain. 
 

E) Opportunities for Revenue Improvement 
 
This item was discussed after item 6-A) - the Marina tour. 
 
Mr. Juliano stated that their Commission has been discussing ways to generate more revenue for 
the Marina property. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer said he is trying to get more moorings and there is still the green space at the 
end of the parking lot.  At one time they even considered selling that property to a home 
developer. 
 
Mr. Juliano stated that unless the City is desperate, they should not give up any green space.  He 
asked how much revenue could be generated if they added five (5) more moorings.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied that if they are all transients, then about $10,000 more a year. 
 
Mr. Snyder asked what ever happened with their idea of adding more outside boat storage racks.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer explained that he contacted the contractor, but they never showed up.  He is 
getting the feeling that they are not interested unless it is going to be a much larger structure.  
 
Mr. Walker asked if they should revisit the discussion on the boat docks over near the Dog Park. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer stated that he still has the drawings for that project.  He also has a larger plan 
that encompassed everything, but it might be easier to do it in phases.    
 
Mr. Snyder asked if the City owns the lagoon where the kayaks launch.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.  It is submerged land and it is part of the Marina.  It is only about 
three (3) to four (4) feet deep, but it could be dredged.  
 
Mr. Juliano commented that they talked about developing a small Marina extension there, so 
maybe this is the time they should look at it again.  It is a prime piece of waterfront property. 
 
Mr. Grabenbauer said that in 2004 when they rebuilt the existing docks in the lagoon they added 
an electrical shed and a breaker with 400-amp service so they will have electricity available if 
they expand the docks.  There are currently 13 slips and about half of them are rented, but they 
were full at one time.  The cost is $10.50 per foot for those slips.  He wants to ask the 
Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) if their submerged land lease will allow them to 
put boatlifts on pilings inside the slips.   
 
Mr. Snyder said that by having boatlifts it may attract more people to keep their boats here.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer explained that the City has three (3) submerged land leases, but they only have 
to pay the State for the newest one.  The other Marina lease is so old that it was grandfathered in.  

                          Marine Commission   11/1/16  
5 



 

The third lease is the mooring field and as long as the City shows they do not make a profit on it 
there is no lease charge.   
 
Mr. Juliano suggested that Mr. Grabenbauer bring his old plans to the next Marine Commission 
meeting, so they can discuss what they should do.  He would also like to know if he receives a 
response from DEP on the boatlifts.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer said that he will have that information available.  
 
At 10:50 a.m. Mr. Lanier excused himself from the meeting.  
 
Mr. Walker asked if there is also water available to the slips in the lagoon.  
 
Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.  
 
Mr. Snyder commented that if they are looking at ways to generate income this might be a good 
start if the lifts can be installed.  
 
7. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS 

 
None 
 
8. MEMBER’S MATTERS 

 
None 
 
9. NEXT MEETING DATE  

 
The next tentative Marine Commission meeting was scheduled for February 7, 2017                   
at 9:30 a.m. in the City Hall, Training Room.            

 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Today’s meeting adjourned at 10:53 a.m.  
 
/rh 

                          Marine Commission   11/1/16  
6 


	MARINE COMMISSION MINUTES
	Tuesday, November 1, 2016 – 9:30 a.m.
	Vero Beach City Marina (Pavilion), 3611 Rio Vista Boulevard, Vero Beach, Florida
	PRESENT:  Chairman, Thomas Juliano; Members: Robert Snyder, Clinton Lanier; and Alternate Member, William Walker Also Present: Marina Director, Tim Grabenbauer and Senior Administrative Assistant, Rita Hawkins
	Excused absence: Brian Cunningham 
	Unexcused absences: Daniel Thomas and Bill Johnson
	  1. CALL TO ORDER
	The Chairman called the meeting to order at 9:33 a.m. and the Senior Administrative Assistant performed the roll call. 
	  2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A) July 11, 2016 
	Mr. Lanier made a motion to approve the July 11, 2016 Marine Commission minutes.  Mr. Snyder seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	None
	4. OLD BUSINESS
	A)  Update on Indian River Rowing Club, Inc.
	Mr. Juliano stated that he talked with Mr. Chris Ryan, Indian River Rowing Club (IRRC) Director, and asked him to provide the Marine Commission with an update on their progress.  The Commission members were given a handout that includes a brief summary of their progress and a rendering of what the boathouse and floating docks will look like (on file in the City Clerk’s office).  He said that Mr. Ryan shared with him that rowing generates the largest amount of scholarships for girls out of all of women’s sports.  
	Mr. Lanier asked if the funds for building the boathouse are still coming exclusively from the IRRC and not the City.
	Mr. Juliano replied yes. 
	Mr. Walker asked what is the term of their lease. 
	Mr. Juliano asked Ms. Rita Hawkins, Senior Administrative Assistant, to email the lease agreement to the Marine Commission members. 
	Mr. Snyder stated that he rows with the Masters group, so he is in contact with the IRRC all the time and he knows they have cash flow.  He does not attend the IRRC Board meetings, but he will keep the Marine Commission informed on what he knows. 
	Mr. Walker asked if they are actively fundraising. 
	Mr. Snyder replied that they are. 
	5. NEW BUSINESS
	None
	6. MARINA DIRECTOR’S MATTERS
	Items 6-B) and 6-C) were discussed before the tour of the facility.
	A) Tour of Marina Facility
	Mr. Tim Grabenbauer, Marina Director, and the Marine Commission members toured the Vero Beach Marina property at this time.  
	Mr. Grabenbauer started the tour at the main building and pointed out the north restroom facilities that will be renovated.  He said the entire building will be painted next year.  The south restroom facilities were redone in 1999 and are in good shape.  They are currently repairing the wood siding on some of the electrical/meter sheds and on the north dock they had to replace one (1) of the finger piers.  
	Mr. Juliano asked who does the dock repairs.
	Mr. Grabenbauer explained that they use Wilco Construction, Dock Masters, and some others, but Wilco does the major work. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer continued the tour down the pier to the Marina office and showed them the location of the failing piling that is scheduled for repair.  He said he believes the Marina office has been at this location since the 1930’s and there has not been any major work done to the concrete dock since 1973.  He said the 2x4 wood beams under the cement tiles are from the old Barber Bridge, so it has some historical significance. 
	Mr. Walker asked if the City owns the fuel system.
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer and the Marine Commission members continued their tour to the dry storage barn.  He pointed out the flat roof on the storage building as the one that is being replaced.  He said the building is structurally sound even though there is rust.  He said that the cost for storing a boat in the barn is $325.00 per month plus tax.  The group walked out on the floating docks and Mr. Grabenbauer explained that the dock is held together with wales and rods.  The dock is over 20 years old and needs some repairs.  He showed them some damage that occurred from hurricane Matthew.  
	Mr. Grabenbauer showed the Commission the Go-Line bus shelter that was installed by the County about a year ago.  He reported that he upgraded the security system at the Marina and added some new cameras.  He said that the Marina also provides kayak storage space and a launching area for a cost of $16.35 per month.  
	B) Report on Marina Budget Hearing
	Mr. Grabenbauer reported that the budget was approved and the City is transferring $107,000 from the General Fund to capital maintenance for the Marina.  They will go to bid in February for the renovations of the north bathroom facilities, which will take place in mid April.  They will be replacing the flat roof on the dry stack office, which is the concrete building attached to the barn.  They already signed off on the work authorization and there will be a preconstruction meeting this week with the contractor to determine how much storage room will be required for their equipment and materials.  
	Mr. Juliano asked if the roof is leaking.
	Mr. Grabenbauer stated that they have been patching it since they purchased the property, so it has been leaking a long time.
	Mr. Walker asked how old is the roof on the main building. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied it was re-shingled about 12 years ago, so it still has some life left to it. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer stated that he met with Ms. Cindy Lawson, Finance Director, and Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager, about the Marina.  The Marina is paying for itself but there is no money left over for capital maintenance.  The General Fund paid off a few things this year which freed up some money.  Since the Marina is a City facility they decided to put some money back into it.  
	Mr. Lanier asked if the Marina still generates a positive cash flow for the City.  
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.  The Marina still pays into the General Fund.  This year they are paying in a little over $90,000, but it is usually a little over $100,000.  
	Mr. Juliano asked how was the actual cash flow compared to last year.  
	Mr. Grabenbauer said that he has not seen the final figures yet.  They raised the rate for the mooring field last year and when he looked recently it was well over what it was the previous year. 
	Mr. Walker asked if the mooring field filled up for the hurricane. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied not quite and this was the first time it was not full for a major storm.
	Mr. Grabenbauer reported that the Underwater Engineering Services, Inc. (UESI) finished the structural analysis report on the main dock.  There are some issues that need to be addressed and there is money in the budget this year for the recommended repairs.  In the City’s submerged land lease it states that if they do more than 40% renovations to the dock house they are supposed to revisit the lease, because they prefer to have the buildings off the water.  He believes it might not be a bad idea and in about five (5) years they might want to decide if they want to move the dock house on shore.  They can revisit this project after the other piece of property is paid for and frees up some funds.  
	Mr. Juliano asked if there is space available for it. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.  
	Mr. Juliano asked when will the dock repairs be done. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer explained that he will be meeting with the Engineer who did the study to schedule the work.  A piling near the office has failed, so that is an immediate repair.  The first part of the work will cost about $60,000 to $80,000 and the second part will be close to $200,000.  He explained that in the 2018/2019 and the 2019/2020 budget years the City’s plan is to have the General Fund pay the debt service for two (2) years on the Waddell property, so they can buy a new forklift and do some dock renovations.  
	Mr. Lanier commented that Mr. Grabenbauer has done a wonderful job with the funds that are available and with the cut back on employees. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer stated that he did add one (1) new employee this year. 
	Mr. Lanier asked how is the mooring ball renovation project going. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer reported that there are 15 buoys left to be done.  Some of the chains where they are shackled to the anchors are buried way down deep, so they left those ones until last.  The company doing the work has a special set up to be able to blow away all the sand and debris so he can get to that anchor.  
	Mr. Juliano asked how many mooring buoys are there.
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied that there are 57, but he wants to increase that number.  He is trying to work with the Florida Inland Navigation District (FIND), because he is also going to apply for FIND grant money for the docks.  He said he will email the structural analysis report to the City Clerk’s office so it can be forwarded to the Marine Commission members.  
	C) Challenges and Concerns Related to Budget, Maintenance, Expenses, Risks and Liabilities
	This item was discussed with item 6-B). 
	D) Waddell Insurance Building
	Mr. Walker asked if there is office space available in the Waddell Insurance building.
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied that Mr. Waddell uses the entire building, so there is no space to rent.  Mr. Waddell’s lease runs until 2029, which is past the time that the debt service will be paid off for that property.  The City raises his rent every year, but Mr. Waddell does not complain.
	E) Opportunities for Revenue Improvement
	This item was discussed after item 6-A) - the Marina tour.
	Mr. Juliano stated that their Commission has been discussing ways to generate more revenue for the Marina property.
	Mr. Grabenbauer said he is trying to get more moorings and there is still the green space at the end of the parking lot.  At one time they even considered selling that property to a home developer.
	Mr. Juliano stated that unless the City is desperate, they should not give up any green space.  He asked how much revenue could be generated if they added five (5) more moorings. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied that if they are all transients, then about $10,000 more a year.
	Mr. Snyder asked what ever happened with their idea of adding more outside boat storage racks. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer explained that he contacted the contractor, but they never showed up.  He is getting the feeling that they are not interested unless it is going to be a much larger structure. 
	Mr. Walker asked if they should revisit the discussion on the boat docks over near the Dog Park.
	Mr. Grabenbauer stated that he still has the drawings for that project.  He also has a larger plan that encompassed everything, but it might be easier to do it in phases.   
	Mr. Snyder asked if the City owns the lagoon where the kayaks launch. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes.  It is submerged land and it is part of the Marina.  It is only about three (3) to four (4) feet deep, but it could be dredged. 
	Mr. Juliano commented that they talked about developing a small Marina extension there, so maybe this is the time they should look at it again.  It is a prime piece of waterfront property.
	Mr. Grabenbauer said that in 2004 when they rebuilt the existing docks in the lagoon they added an electrical shed and a breaker with 400-amp service so they will have electricity available if they expand the docks.  There are currently 13 slips and about half of them are rented, but they were full at one time.  The cost is $10.50 per foot for those slips.  He wants to ask the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) if their submerged land lease will allow them to put boatlifts on pilings inside the slips.  
	Mr. Snyder said that by having boatlifts it may attract more people to keep their boats here. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer explained that the City has three (3) submerged land leases, but they only have to pay the State for the newest one.  The other Marina lease is so old that it was grandfathered in.  The third lease is the mooring field and as long as the City shows they do not make a profit on it there is no lease charge.  
	Mr. Juliano suggested that Mr. Grabenbauer bring his old plans to the next Marine Commission meeting, so they can discuss what they should do.  He would also like to know if he receives a response from DEP on the boatlifts. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer said that he will have that information available. 
	At 10:50 a.m. Mr. Lanier excused himself from the meeting. 
	Mr. Walker asked if there is also water available to the slips in the lagoon. 
	Mr. Grabenbauer replied yes. 
	Mr. Snyder commented that if they are looking at ways to generate income this might be a good start if the lifts can be installed. 
	7. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS
	None
	8. MEMBER’S MATTERS
	None
	9. NEXT MEETING DATE 
	The next tentative Marine Commission meeting was scheduled for February 7, 2017                   at 9:30 a.m. in the City Hall, Training Room.           
	10. ADJOURNMENT
	Today’s meeting adjourned at 10:53 a.m. 
	/rh


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


